CITY COUNCIL MEETING

**Hybrid Meeting***
N Tuesday, September 9, 2025, begins at 6:00 pm
City Council Chamber
13690 NW Main Street

Banks, OR 97106

OREGON ¢ EST 1920

Mayor Marsha Kirk

Councilor Stephanie Jones (CC1) Councilor April Cannon (CC2)

Councilor Niki Walters (CC3) Council President Peter Edison (CC4)

Councilor Pearcia Bogroff (CC5) Councilor Marilyn McCalister (CC6)
AGENDA

TO LISTEN TO THIS MEETING LIVE
Use the ZOOM App on your electronic device and the link below to join the webinar:
https://lus02web.zoom.us/j/89985575148 ?pwd=R0I5YkErazVYeXBWZUNmaEQxTU9hZz09
If using phone only (no internet) call 1-253-215-8782
Webinar ID: 899 8557 5148
Passcode: 107069

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION
INFORMATION AND DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. Staff response to Councilor questions about any of the September 9, 2025, Council Meeting Agenda
items.
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) — ADA Ramp Project — Michelle Gauthier w/ODOT.
Market Retail Study Discussion — Jon Legarza, Economic Development Coordinator. Agenda Packet pg. 1
Discussion — Arbor Day 2025 Proclamation.

Discussion — Intergovernmental Agreement with Washington County for Building and Grading Services.
Agenda Packet pg. 49

arwn

CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS MEETING
CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
ROLL CALL

APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS: This is the time for interested citizens and anyone in the audience
to address the City Council on any items of concern, except items that are part of the Public Hearing.

Comments are limited to 3 minutes. The purpose of the public comment period is for the public to inform the
Council about their views. The City Manager may direct staff to follow up with you regarding your comment or

Next Regular Meeting: Tuesday, October 14, 2025 @ 6:00 P.M.

Page 1 of 3


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89985575148?pwd=R0I5YkErazVYeXBWZUNmaEQxTU9hZz09

questions. Written comments are always welcome and can be emailed to the City Recorder at
alanter@cityofbanks.orq.

Speaking In Person: Please fill out a green comment card on the table at the front of the room and give it to the
City Recorder prior to the start of the meeting. If you have a written statement for the Council, please have 10
copies available, and give them to the City Recorder who will distribute them to the Council.

Speaking Virtually: Please contact the City Recorder before 1 pm, the day before the meeting. Email the City
Recorder at alanter@cityofbanks.orqg or call 503-324-5112 to provide your name, phone number, address, email
address, and topic. Members of the public will not be able to share their screen or turn on their camera during
the meeting; presentation materials should be submitted as written testimony and be received by the City
Recorder before 1 pm the day before the meeting. The City Recorder will send you a confirmation email.

CEREMONIAL PRESENTATIONS & PROCLAMATIONS
6. Proclamation — Arbor Day 2025

CITY REPORTS, BRIEFINGS AND PROGRAMS
7. Police Monthly Briefing — Washington County Sheriff's Office
8. Library Director Report — Susan Cackler, Acting Library Director Agenda Packet pg. 35
9. Public Works Report — Conner Hayes, Public Works Supervisor Agenda Packet pg. 37

10. City Recorder/Assistant City Manager Report — Angie Lanter, City Recorder/Assistant City Manager
Agenda Packet pg. 38
11. City Manager Report — Jolynn Becker, City Manager Agenda Packet pg. 41

CONSENT AGENDA: The items on the Consent Agenda are considered routine and all will be adopted by one
motion unless a Council Member requests, before the vote on the motion, to have any item considered
separately. If any item is removed from the Consent Agenda, the Mayor will indicate when it will be discussed on
the Business Agenda.
12. City Council Meeting Minutes — August 12, 2025. Agenda Packet pg. 44
13. Shall the City Council authorize the Mayor to sign the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with
Washington County for Building and Grading Services? Agenda Packet pg. 49
14. Shall the City Council award the contract for replacing the City’s Trees around Greenville City Park as
part of the Sidewalk Repair/Tree Replacement Project, including the installation of the root barriers to
Showplace Landscaping in an amount not to exceed $18,397.00? (CL2025-24) Agenda Packet pg. 55
15. Shall the City Council authorize the City Manager to sign the Public Utility Easement for NW Banks Road
& NW Aerts Road?

PUBLIC HEARING - NONE
Comments are limited to 3 minutes.

Speaking In Person: Please fill out a green comment card on the table at the front of the room and give it to the
City Recorder. If you have a written statement for the Council, please have 10 copies available, and give them to
the City Recorder who will distribute them to the Council.

Speaking Virtually: Please contact the City Recorder before 1 pm, the day before the meeting. Email the City
Recorder at alanter@cityofbanks.orqg or call 503-324-5112 to provide your name, phone number, address, email
address, and if you will be testifying in favor, neutral, or against. Members of the public will not be able to share
their screen or turn on their camera during the meeting; presentation materials should be submitted as written
testimony and be received by the City Recorder before 1 pm the day before the meeting. The City Recorder will
send you a confirmation email.

Written comments are always welcome and can be emailed to the City Recorder at alanter@cityofbanks.org.

Next Regular Meeting: Tuesday, October 14, 2025 @ 6:00 P.M.
Page 2 of 3


mailto:alanter@cityofbanks.org
mailto:alanter@cityofbanks.org
mailto:alanter@cityofbanks.org
mailto:alanter@cityofbanks.org

BUSINESS AGENDA
16. Shall the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2025-16, a Resolution supporting the renewal of the
Washington County Cooperative Library Services Local Option Levy and passage of Ballot Measure 34-
3457 Agenda Packet pg. 56
17. Shall the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2025-17, a Resolution supporting the renewal of the

Washington County Public Safety Local Option Levy and passage of Ballot Measure 34-3467 Agenda
Packet pg. 57

18. Shall the City Council review and reassign City Council Committee Assignments? Agenda Packet pg. 59
19. Discussion - Developer Agreement with Five Star Builders. Agenda Packet pg. 60

COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS AND ROUND TABLE DISCUSSION

ADJOURN

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Representatives of the news media and designated staff may attend Executive Sessions. Representatives of
the news media are specifically directed not to report on any of the deliberations during the Executive Session,
except to state the general subject of the session as previously announced. No decision will be made in the
executive session.

This Executive Session is held pursuant to ORS 192.660 (2)(i) Performance Evaluations of the Public Officers
and Employees which allows the City Council to meet in executive session to review and evaluate the job
performance of the City Manager.

Media: To listen to this meeting live, please contact City Recorder, Angie Lanter at
alanter@cityofbanks.orq for the login information.

Next Regular Meeting: Tuesday, October 14, 2025 @ 6:00 P.M.
Page 3 of 3


mailto:alanter@cityofbanks.org

MARKET
ASSESSMENT

RETAIL MARKET STUDY

BANKS, OREGON

Prepared for
THE CITY OF BANKS

August 2025




NKS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..ottt ettt ettt e e suae s e e e s b saeneenaes 1
STUDY METHODOLOGY AND SCOPE......coccutiiiiiiinriieiieintee ettt sttt se e e snnessmneesneeeenesmeneens 4
STUDY AREA. o ssvus exruesnsssasusssnnns csvussvssennosionsnsassnsesonsesss s ivessssss st s vossses vusvossven s 185 s evayssssvnas s sassssssd 5o suess i i 5
PRIMARY IMARKET . ....coiittiitiiitie ittt ettt sttt ettt sb et st e st e s bt e st e et e s bb e e nan e e samnaeeeneetaeenbeenn 6
DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC ANALYSIS. cccvncuvvcusssmsosmsmsonsmomssansnssinsinesssmmessssssess smossssssasarss s e 7
RETAIL MARKET ANALYSIS. ..ottt et ettt et snnesen e e 10
DOWNTOWN CORE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT ANALYSIS. ...ctiiitiiiiteieeniiiniieiieesice sttt 14
HIGHWAY 6 GATEWAY DISTRICT ANALYSIS. ...ttt et ee e sineesis e 16
EMERGING DEVELOPMENT AREAS. ...ttt ettt sttt ettt sttt sttt sbe e sieeseesnaeeaneenenenesaeens 18
RETAILDEMAND: PROJECTIONS  scunssrssmvsonsenomsssssmensvmmmssnmsnsnsssmusnssmns s s s sms s smmss s s s ssssaa s £ S amsss s 19
RETAIL CATEGORY ANALYSIS. ..ceitieiiieeeie ettt ettt ettt e st et e s sbb e saten e et e e e st cesbeeeenteeessseesanneeesesaneeans 21
DEVELOPMENT RECOMMENDATIONS s susususmumnsssnmsassnswseessonsssssmss sorsss e s s s ey s s sy s 50 s saseusss 23
IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY......eceiitiiitiieesries ettt siee ettt emr e e e st esssbn e sabeesasbeesabeessbtessanneeebnneenans 27
CONCLUSTONS i cxssmosnuss swnss sasussessvsssainsns 558557 ss56 555555 6655555 500455 53555 00588 0035035 08 RS H A0 B WS oA O P SO H O3 31

This analysis provides market-based recommendations for retail development planning.
Implementation should consider site-specific conditions, financing availability, and coordination
with broader economic development initiatives.



NKS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Market Overview

The City of Banks occupies a strategic position in Washington County's retail landscape, serving
both as a residential community for Portland-area commuters and as the primary commercial
center for surrounding rural areas. Located at the confluence of State Highways 6 and 47, Banks
functions as the gateway to Oregon's Coast Range and anchors the northern terminus of the
Banks-Vernonia State Trail. This unique positioning creates multiple customer bases including
local residents, rural trade area communities, recreational trail users, and pass-through traffic
traveling between Portland metropolitan area and coastal destinations.

Current population stands at approximately 1,920 residents, with Portland State University
projecting growth to 2,420 residents by 2035 - representing 26% increase driven primarily by
young families seeking affordable housing within commuting distance of major employment
centers. This demographic profile reflects broader regional patterns as working families balance
housing affordability with reasonable commute times to Washington County's technology and
manufacturing employment centers. The community's appeal stems from small-town character,
quality schools through Banks School District, and outdoor recreation access that attracts
families prioritizing quality of life factors.

Banks' retail market operates within the context of Washington County's broader economic
growth, with the county projected to reach 758,000 residents by 2045. However, retail
development in smaller communities like Banks faces unique challenges including competition
from comprehensive shopping centers in Forest Grove and Hillsboro, changing consumer
preferences influenced by e-commerce, and the need to balance local-serving businesses with
regional attractions that can draw customers from beyond city limits.

Key Findings

Market Position: Banks currently supports 40,125 square feet of retail space across 20
buildings, translating to approximately 22 square feet per capita - significantly below
comparable communities throughout Washington County. Forest Grove maintains 46 square
feet per capita, while Cornelius supports 58 square feet per capita, indicating substantial unmet
retail demand that represents both immediate opportunity and long-term development



ANKS

potential. This retail supply gap suggests that Banks residents currently travel to other
communities for shopping needs that could potentially be served locally.!

Trade Area Characteristics: The primary market area extends well beyond Banks city limits to
encompass rural communities including Timber, Buxton, Glenwood, Gales Creek, and Verboort,
covering approximately 150 square miles of predominantly agricultural and forestry land. This
expanded trade area supports an estimated 8,500 to 10,000 residents who lack convenient
access to comprehensive retail services, creating opportunities for Banks to capture regional
spending currently directed to more distant retail centers. The rural trade area's demographics
include higher-than-average household sizes, stable employment in agriculture and forestry,
and preference for local business relationships that can support community-oriented retail
development.

Traffic Volumes: Strategic highway positioning generates significant daily traffic volumes that
exceed typical small-town retail support levels. Highway 26 carries 10,406 vehicles daily,
Highway 6 supports 8,079 vehicles daily, and Highway 47 accommodates 3,689 vehicles daily,
creating combined exposure exceeding 22,000 vehicles daily. This traffic includes both local
residents and regional travelers, particularly those accessing recreational destinations or
traveling between employment centers and coastal areas, providing customer base for
businesses that can capture pass-through spending while serving local needs.

Employment Base: Local employment centers on education with 110 workers, construction
sector with 98 jobs, and public administration supporting 73 positions. However, the majority of
Banks residents commute to Portland metropolitan employment centers, with average
commute times of 35-45 minutes to major job centers in Hillsboro, Beaverton, and Portland.
This commuting pattern influences retail shopping behaviors, creating demand for convenient
local services that reduce additional travel while supporting evening and weekend retail activity
when residents are present in the community.

Development Opportunity

Comprehensive market analysis indicates Banks can realistically support 15,000 to 20,000
square feet of additional retail space over the next decade through a strategic combination of
organic growth, market capture, and tourism enhancement initiatives. This development

' Colliers Commercial Portland Submarket Report 2025 Q2



ANKS

potential reflects both demonstrated unmet demand and realistic assessment of market
conditions that can support successful retail businesses.

Organic Growth Potential: Population increase from current 1,920 residents to projected 2,420
residents by 2035 supports 2,000 to 5,000 square feet of new retail space based on standard
small-market ratios of 4-10 square feet per new resident. This baseline demand provides
foundation for convenience-oriented retail including restaurants, personal services, and
specialty retail that serves the daily needs of growing residential population.’

Market Capture Opportunity: Addressing current retail supply gaps through strategic business
recruitment can support an additional 10,000 to 15,000 square feet of retail space by capturing
spending currently leaving the community. Priority categories include grocery retail, expanded
dining options, personal services, and professional services that can serve both Banks residents
and rural trade area customers seeking convenient alternatives to urban shopping centers. 3

Tourism and Recreation Enhancement: Banks-Vernonia State Trail attracts an estimated 75,000
annual visitors, while coastal access routes create seasonal traffic spikes that generate
additional commercial demand. Trail-oriented retail, visitor services, and hospitality businesses
can capture tourist spending while contributing to Banks' identity as a recreation gateway
community. This tourism component provides seasonal revenue that can supplement
year-round local customer base.

Implementation Timeline: Development success requires coordinated phasing that builds
market confidence while avoiding oversupply. Initial priority focuses on filling critical market
gaps including dining options and convenience retail that can demonstrate market viability.
Secondary development phases can pursue specialty retail, expanded services, and
tourism-oriented businesses as market conditions mature and customer traffic patterns become
established.

Priority retail categories include grocery and specialty food retail, restaurant and dining
establishment, personal services including health and beauty, and trail-oriented retail serving
outdoor recreation visitors. The planned Quail Valley residential development adding hundreds
of new homes will accelerate demand for convenience-oriented retail services while providing
additional customer base for downtown and highway commercial areas. Success depends on

2 Portland State Population Research Center
% International Conference Shopping Center’s ICSC-Retail & Service Amenity Square Footage





































































































































































'5%)7

60



DRAFT

this Agreement is not, and shall not be construed to be, a statutory development agreement
under ORS 94.504 to 94.528, is not intended to implement and shall not be subject to the
requirements of ORS 94.504 to 94.528.

Section 2. Not a Land Use Decision, appeal by Writ of Review only. The Parties understand
and agree that the City's approval of this Agreement does not constitute a land use decision and
is not a land use decision under state law, but instead contemplates a set of actions each party
will take regarding the ultimate development of the 1-Acre Parcel. Consideration and approval
of this Agreement by the City constitutes the City’s final decision with regard to the matters
addressed herein. This Agreement, when signed, is not appealable.

Section 3. Effective Date and Term. This Agreement shall be effective upon full execution
and signature of the authorized representatives of all Parties (“Effective Date”). This Agreement
shall be, and remain, in force until all of the respective obligations of each party are fulfilled, but
in no even longer than 10 years from the Effective Date, after which it shall expire automatically
and become null and void (the “Termination Date”), except that any entitlements (land use
permits and approvals, land divisions, building permits, easements, dedications, conveyances,
and the like) granted or performed by one party for the benefit of the other pursuant to this
Agreement shall remain valid and continue to impose on-going obligations and benefits on the
holder of those entitlements in perpetuity.

Section4.  Amendment and Modification. This Agreement may be amended or modified
prior to the termination date, including an extension of the Termination Date, only upon the
mutual written agreement of both parties. The Mayor is authorized to execute this Agreement
and any amendments on behalf of the City and to approve minor modifications to this
Agreement or the exhibits attached hereto without necessity of further public hearings.

Section 5.  Applicable Development Standards. This Agreement and all development and
improvements specifically described herein shall be subject to the City’s development standards
in the BDC, public works design standards and any other regulatory documents adopted by the
City and in effect on the that any such development or improvements are applied for with the
appropriate regulatory authority as provided in ORS 227.178(3).

Section 6. Five Star’s Obligations. Five Star is responsible for performing or otherwise
completing the following:

a. Facilitate the City’s BLA. In consultation with the City, Five Star shall cause a survey of
the 1-Acre Parcel to be prepared that shows the portion abutting Five Star’s property of
sufficient size to accommodate up to 12 vehicle parking spaces and generally illustrated
in Exhibit 1. This survey shall be prepared, signed and stamped by an Oregon licensed
Professional Land Surveyor and be of suitable form and detail to serve as the exhibit for
the City’s BLA application described in Section 7a.

b. Prepare development plans for the 1-Acre Parcel. Five Star, in consultation with the City,
shall prepare plans for the development of the 1-Acre Parcel (the “Development Plans”)
generally conforming to Exhibit 1 that include the following plans or design elements:

e Grading plans that show before and after grades for the entire 1-Acre Parcel,
e A location for a future water filtration plant that will remain landscaped and
undeveloped until such time as the City chooses to construct the filtration plant,

Page 2 — Development Agreement (West-side Development)

61



DRAFT

e A looped access driveway off of the future north-south running street serving the
adjacent West Banks (Sunset View) Master Planned residential development,

o Parking spaces for approximately 40 standard-sized vehicles, plus 12 additional
parking spaces accessible from property owned by Five Star,

o Pavement, curbing and stormwater collection facilities for the parking areas and
access driveway, designed to City public works design standards,

e Required perimeter and interior landscaping, to include trees, shrubs and ground
cover plantings.

c. Construct all improvements for the 1-Acre Parcel. After the City obtains approval and/or
permits for the Development Plans and improvements designed by Five Star pursuant in
Section 6b, Five Star shall construct or cause to be constructed by suitably qualified
contractor all improvements in accordance with the approved Development Plans. The
City shall have the right to inspect construction of the 1-Acre Parcel improvements as
work proceeds, determine compliance with the approved Development Plans and
adopted Public Works design standards, and to reject any improvements that are not
consistent with these designs or standards. Five Star’s work to construct the above-
described improvements may be subject to prevailing wage rates under state law. Five
Star is responsible for compliance with any such legal requirements.

Section 7. City’s Obligations: The City is responsible for performing or otherwise completing
the following:

a. Conveyance of 12 parking spaces to Five Star. The City shall apply for and obtain
approval of a boundary line adjustment (“BLA”) to separate a portion of the 1-Acre
Parcel adjacent to Five Star’s property and of a sufficient size to accommodate 12
vehicle parking spaces and convey that portion to Five Star, as illustrated in Exhibit 1.
The City’s BLA shall be based upon the survey of the adjusted 1-Acre Parcel prepared
by Five Star as described in Section 6a. Five Star shall be responsible for the
recordation of the BLA obtained by the City and any related recording costs.

b. Obtain Local Permits for all Improvements for the 1-Acre Parcel. The City shall be
responsible for obtaining any/all local permits required to construct the improvements to
the 1-Acre Parcel illustrated in Exhibit 1 that will be designed by Five Star pursuant to
Section 6b.

c. Exemption from public procurement requirements. The City recognizes and
acknowledges that Five Star’s design and construction work in furtherance of the
development of the 1-Acre Parcel is sufficient consideration for the City’s conveyance of
12 parking spaces to Five Star, and this work is only available from this source. In
recognition of this consideration, the City shall adopt an exemption to the competitive
public procurement procedures that are otherwise required by Banks Municipal Code
(“BMC”) Chapter 36 under BMC Section 36.09(B) (Sole Source Procurement) and ORS
279B.075 (Sole-source procurements).

Section 8. Dispute Resolution and Remedies. Should a disagreement arise between the
City and Five Starr regarding interpretation and application of this Agreement, the parties agree
to attempt to resolve the disagreement by first meeting and conferring. If this does not result in
resolution the parties agree to employ a mutually agreeable mediator to resolve the

Page 3 — Development Agreement (West-side Development)

62



DRAFT

disagreement. Both sides shall bear their own costs incurred in mediation and shall share the
cost of the mediator. If mediation proves unsuccessful, the disagreement may be resolved by
arbitration or judicial action filed in Circuit Court for Washington County, Oregon or federal
District Court for the District of Oregon. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with,
and governed by, the laws of the State of Oregon. In the event a dispute arises under this
Agreement and either party files legal action to interpret or enforce its terms, the prevailing party
in any arbitration and/or legal action in state or federal court, and any appeals therefrom shall be
entitled to recover its reasonable costs thus incurred, including expert witness and attorney
fees, from the losing party.

Section 9. No Waiver. Failure of either party at any time to require performance by the other
party of any of the provisions or requirements of this Agreement shall in no way affect the
parties’ rights hereunder to enforce any and all rights and obligations set forth in this
Agreement, nor shall any failure by a party to declare a default or breach of this Agreement by
another party be deemed a waiver of any default or breach or a waiver of this non-waiver
clause.

Section 10. No third party beneficiaries. This Agreement is strictly and solely between the

parties signed below, and it shall not create any obligation on the part of either party to perform
or pay anything to or on behalf of anyone not a party to this Agreement. This Agreement does
not create any rights in favor of or for any person or entity that is not a party to this Agreement.

Section 11. Severability. If any portion of this Agreement is determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, the validity and enforceability
of the remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby.

Section 12. Inconsistencies. If any provisions of the Banks Development Code are deemed
inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement shall control
to the extent the issue is addressed in this Agreement. Where this Agreement is silent on a
particular matter, the then-current Banks Development Code shall control.

Section 13. Incorporation of Recitals. Each of the recitals set forth above are intended to be,
and are incorporated as, covenants between the parties and shall be so construed.

Section 14. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including Exhibits A and B, referenced herein
and the recitals, constitute the entire agreement between the parties with regard to the matter
addressed herein. No terms or representations not set forth in this Agreement or the referenced
exhibits shall be considered a part of, or enforceable under, this Agreement.

Section 15. Notices. All notices will be in writing and may be delivered by personal delivery,
by overnight courier service, or by deposit in the United States Mail, postage prepaid, as
certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed as follows:

City: The City of Banks
Attn: Jolynn Becker, City Manager
13680 NW Main Street
Banks, OR 97106

Five Star: FIVE STAR BUILDERS, INC.
Attn: Clint Jackson, President
13981 NE Main Street

Page 4 — Development Agreement (West-side Development)

63



DRAFT

Banks, OR 97106

Notices will be deemed received by the addressee upon the earlier of actual delivery or refusal
of a party to accept delivery thereof. The addresses to which notices are to be delivered may
be changed by giving notice of such change in address in accordance with this notice provision.

IT IS SO AGREED, as indicated by the below-signed authorized representatives of the
parties hereto.

The City of Banks: Five Star Builders, Inc.:
print name & title print name & title
Date: Date:
Page 5 — Development Agreement (West-side Development)

64



5/30/2025 3:04:53 PM C:\Users\Matt\Dropbox\06 Projects-KVA\00 Unassigned\2024-06-07 FSB Parking Site\09 CADD\Banks Water Treatment Plan.rvt

o8m .
x=z= i3
=49 o
IOz = |
|I£c O z
— 5 -
| LI o | =
| @
2l =
— o ———
A J
1 ’I
1 | ’)
= fom. ‘ )
S m »] f
o z E—— /
> : R b ;
= (I X
= & W5 i
L= = ¥
= >
- @
m e
L m
e i m
(@) S
2 o
N
o
m O
- o DR 33
C 5
C 2
s =
.

A
> |7IE1E] |5 WATER TREATMENT BLDG
= Ll g SITE PLAN 42638 NW CEDAR CANYON RD

5 g BANKS, OR 97106

£]e

65





